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1.
Timeless elegance: 
 
50 years of BMW 507 and BMW 503. 

Nobody anticipated the result: “BMW has beaten even the Italians”, 
rejoiced one trade magazine. And the designer was actually a German. 
“The lightweight construction of the V eight-cylinder from BMW is undoubtedly the most successful synthesis produced by the art of automobile construction on both sides of the Atlantic”, was the opinion on the engine. This was the first aluminium eight-cylinder to be built in the world and it also came from Germany. 

But the BMW 507 was originated in the USA. 

In 1954, all eyes in Germany were turned towards the land of golden opportunities. Young people were in raptures about the voice of a young truck driver named Elvis Presley. The future king of rock-and-roll landed hit after 
hit right from the start of his career, creating a sensation with the provocative swing of his hips. James Dean was falling in love with Natalie Wood in the movies and with German sports cars in his private life. The grown-ups were happy with the film stars’ choice of car. After all, if it was fashionable to 
drive a German car in the States that had to be good for the German economy. The American upper class loved to drive European cars down the highways 
in order to distinguish themselves from the majority of Americans, who were driving huge American saloons. Germany’s car industry responded by designing, building and exporting anything that promised to be a hit on the 
US market. 

BMW sports cars: good reputation from the pre-war years.

The 328 manufactured before the war transformed BMW into one of the leading sports car manufacturers, but after the war the company didn’t have a single sports car in its range. Nevertheless, the make had a good reputation among automobile enthusiasts from the Atlantic seaboard to the Pacific coast because some of the former American GIs had taken pre-war roadsters back home as souvenirs. Then there was a certain Max Hoffman, General Importer for BMW. Hoffman was based in New York and was extremely successful 
in launching German two-seaters. He was also clamouring for one thing from Munich: a sports car.

The name was there, the market was there, the importer was there – 
only the car was lacking. 

But BMW was not entirely empty-handed. The big 501 saloon launched in 1951 was the first automobile to have been manufactured after the war, with a pre-war six-cylinder under the bonnet, even though conditions weren’t 
ideal for a car of this nature. The automobile plant in Eisenach was under Russian administration and therefore lost forever. But tests were already starting with a V8 engine that had just been brought to production stage in 1954. BMW launched it in the same year at the Geneva Motor Show, in the first instance as a power unit for the saloon.  

Project sports car: initial concrete deliberations in 1954. 

This advanced engine was ideal for powering a sports car and on this basis, the company started to think about building a two-seater in 1954. It was to be a sports flagship projecting a modern image for the BMW brand. 
Max Hoffman saw his vision confirmed and remembered meeting a young designer who he had got to know and admire in New York society: 
Albrecht Graf Goertz. After all, the career of this aristocrat of German extraction was based on an automobile he had designed himself. The design had 
even claimed the attention of Raymond Loewy, whereupon Loewy had taken him under his wing. By the mid-1950s, Goertz had long been independent and had applied himself to industrial design. Hoffman perceived him to have the genius and know-how that could successfully shape the sports car style 
in the USA during the second half of the 1950s.

Hoffman encouraged Goertz to take up contact with BMW and recommended him to Munich. Goertz produced a sketch for an incredibly beautiful 
car and was commissioned to design the new sports model. However, the commission wasn’t restricted to developing the future roadster for mass production. In order to gain a proper foothold in the luxury class – particularly in the USA – BMW wanted to line up a four-seater coupé alongside the 
sports two-seater. This four-seater would also have the option of a retractable convertible top. The type designations for the two projects were quickly defined, since the aim was for them to demonstrate family similarities with the big eight-cylinder saloons 501 and 502. The designation 507 was intended for the sports car and 503 for the coupé.

Separate bodywork development: 507 in Munich, 503 in Stuttgart.

While development work for the 507 was starting up in Munich, the first prototypes for the big coupé were being created at the bodywork company Baur in Stuttgart. There were two reasons for this. Firstly, development capacities in Munich were so limited that it wasn’t possible to have two 

projects running at once. And secondly, BMW had already used Baur 
for development of the 501 saloon, because at the start of the 1950s there weren’t even enough tools available to make prototypes. 

Alternative: sports-car design by Ernst Loof.

The plans of the Munich car-maker didn’t remain a secret for long. News 
about the sports-car project soon travelled further afield and reached the Eifel mountains and former BMW racing engineer Ernst Loof who had started up his own Veritas company after the war. Veritas had been a sports-car marque based on the engineering of the pre-war BMW 328 but the company had already been forced to give up production. However, BMW had bought up the company and made Loof head of the Nürburgring field office for the 
BMW Research and Development Department. Loof complained to Munich and the Board of Management gave him the opportunity to present an alternative proposal to the Goertz developments. The company placed a chassis with an engine at his disposal and Loof and his team built a 
hand-crafted body around it. The prototype made of aluminium weighed around 900 kilos and it was powered by a modified 8-cylinder under 
the bonnet. This engine generated around 135 bhp and accelerated the car to 180 km/h top speed. 

Loof’s team developed the prototype faster than the development engineers at the BMW plant. The chassis of his prototype bore the number 70,001 and was sometimes also designated as the 502 sports car within the company. 502 was the designation for the BMW eight-cylinder saloon that had been launched in 1954 and was dubbed the “Baroque Angel” because of its aristocratic lines. Loof presented the car to the company in Munich as well as to a public audience at a beauty competition in Bad Neuenahr. The low-slung two-seater with its swept-back lines won the gold medal – but it didn’t win over the BMW Board of Management, which remained committed to the design by Goertz. US importer Max Hoffman is even quoted as saying: 
“That will never sell.”

507: Spectacular debut at the Waldorf-Astoria, New York.

In Munich, the first bodies were handcrafted from sheet aluminium on a wooden mock-up at lightning pace. After not quite 18 months of development time, the first prototypes of the 507 were ready – one of them bore the 
chassis number 70,002. In 1955, Graf Goertz unveiled a two-seater open-top sports car in New York. When he revealed the BMW 507, he wasn’t 
just launching a new sports car – he was also setting a design benchmark. Two examples of a beautiful sports car were on display in the foyer 
of the Waldorf Astoria. The 507 bore a completely new countenance, but nevertheless one that was typically BMW. The twin-kidney grille hadn’t been 

envisaged in the initial drafts, but it was now broad instead of high and swept elegantly across the front of the car between the headlights. Extended lines along the side, a swept-back design and a seemingly unending engine bonnet shaped the timeless, beautiful design of this dream car. The air inlets were 
a characteristic feature. They were positioned at the side behind the wheels, which prominently displayed the white-and-blue emblem. 

The two cars standing among the flashing cameras remained prototypes. Information about the engineering was confined to key data: alloy body with eight-cylinder engine, four-speed gearbox and hydraulic drum brakes. 
Data on driving performance was restricted to vague specifications. But one glance at the interior provided confirmation of the superior nature of the vehicle. The speedometer positioned on the left behind the white plastic four-spoke steering wheel went up to 240 km/h. Any driver travelling at more 
than 100 km/h at time was already king of the autobahn. Just as it should be in a sports car, the rev counter was located next to the speedo, identical in size and with the scale ending at 6,000 revs. This promised an exceptionally high torque for an eight-cylinder during the 1950s, especially since the majority of these primarily came from American production. 

The stars at the IAA Frankfurt Motor Show 1955: 
BMW 507 and BMW 503.

The car met with public acclaim and Max Hoffman was rapturous. It would be easy to market with the well-heeled American public, provided that the 
driving performance and price were right. A little later, the 507 again created a sensation, this time in Germany at the IAA Frankfurt Motor Show in 1955. However, this time the two-seater had competition. The debut of the second design by Goertz – the 503 – was being celebrated a few paces away. 
The two-door car presented itself both as a coupé and as a convertible and had a modern, elegant pontoon body. “This is not about opulence. 
What we see here is an aristocratic breed with lines verging on the modest. 
An ideal foil for the wonderful eight-cylinder engine”, was one of the accolades showered on the debutante. There was no B-pillar to spoil the sweep of the contours, and the four side windows could be lowered completely. The narrow C-pillar was a dominant feature giving the impression of supreme automobile elegance, particularly when the windows were open. The diverse markets for the two new BMW automobiles were obvious from the form of the 
kidney-shaped grille typical of BMW. The 503 gave a rather more conservative impression, with the vertical twin oval shape at the front, familiar from the 501/502 saloons. Meanwhile, the 507 had the revolutionary new horizontal version, with the kidneys spanning almost the entire width of the vehicle between the headlamps. A perfect countenance. 

An enthusiastic public applauded the design of the two masterpieces – most of the visitors to the IAA Frankfurt Motor Show in 1955 were already satisfied if they could afford one of the Isettas also displayed on the BMW stand. 
Indeed the Isetta was so successful in the marketplace that production of the small car took priority as far as BMW was concerned. 

503: Common basis with the saloon.

It wasn’t until 1956 that the two new top models went into mass production. First came the BMW 503: delivery of the new dream coupé started up in June. Its engineering incorporated significantly more components from the 
saloon and was therefore ready for mass production sooner due to the shorter development time. The complete frame and chassis design was taken over from the 502 virtually unchanged. The 503 was based on a box-type chassis providing complete protection. The front half-axles were each connected 
to two transverse A-frame arms mounted on pin bearings. These low-friction bearings gave the progressive suspension a particularly sensitive response. The suspension comprised a very long torsion bar positioned longitudinally. The arrangement of the shock absorbers was equally unusual. They were mounted on the outside of the lower A-arm, passed upwards at an angle and were then supported on the inside of the top A-arm. This meant that they 
were not in contact with the sprung bodywork and therefore could not transfer any noise.

In configuring the steering, the design engineers in Munich surpassed themselves. They transferred the principle of rack-and-pinion steering to a crown-wheel segment to achieve maximum steering precision. The axis 
of the complex bevel-gear steering was arranged parallel to the axis of the steering knuckle. This meant that steering kinematics were extremely precise over the entire spring travel. The oil reservoir for this steering system also provided lubrication for all the other components of the front axle. This made them independent of the normal central lubrication.

“Final stage in the development of the rigid drive axle.”

Test engineers at the time judged the rear axle to be the “final stage in the development of the rigid drive axle”. Torsion bars engaged at the outer ends of the axle via spring arms and also provided the suspension here while simultaneously ensuring longitudinal suspension. The shock absorbers were positioned at an angle between the spring arms and the frame. The differential casing was located in the centre of the axle on an A-arm with its base being rubber-mounted on the frame. This achieved excellent steering, outstanding suspension and a high level of driving comfort. Hypoid bevel gears rotated inside the differential casing and the bevel gear engaged very low down. 
This permitted a relatively flat tunnel for the cardan shaft mounted on needle bearings.

Even the gearbox with column-mounted gearshift lever was configured in a different position to other cars – in the same way as the 502. Instead of being flanged directly on the engine, the gearbox with four fully-synchronized 
gears was positioned under the front seats and linked to the engine with a short propeller shaft. This arrangement had the advantage that the floor space was largely unencumbered by a big gearbox housing. On the other hand, 
the engine mounting did not need to be designed for the maximum torque. The bearings for the engine could therefore be arranged with unusually soft suspension.”

More power: 140 bhp for the 503.

The latest generation of the BMW eight-cylinder engine provided the power unit. The capacity of this engine had already been increased to 3.2 litres for the saloon at the IAA Frankfurt Motor Show in 1955 and generated 120 bhp in 
the Baroque Angel. A sporty coupé like the 503 was rather more ambitious when it came to power and its demands were satisfied: the V8 in the 503 delivered 140 bhp at 4,800 revs per minute. In order to release the additional 20 bhp for the 503/1 engine, BMW engineers working on engine development fitted two twin carburettors, gave the engine a compression raised from 
7.2 to 7.3:1 and changed the operation of the valves. The diameters of the valves were increased by two millimetres to 40 millimetres on the inlet side and to 30 millimetres on the outlet side. 

The bodywork of the 503 was made of aluminium and could be supplied as a coupé or as a convertible with a top operated by an electric hydraulic system. The driver and passenger were provided with individual seats for extremely comfortable seating. Two spare seats were fitted in the rear or alternatively a single seat was mounted transversely. 

Elegance for high society during the 1950s.

The distinguished elegance of the BMW 503 appealed to the very clientele BMW had targeted: High Society. After all, you needed to be comparatively well off, because the coupé and the convertible came with the high price-tag of 29,500 marks. You could buy a respectable terraced house for that kind of money in 1956 or around seven Volkswagens. The one thing the BMW 503 had in common with the VW was its delivery time of four to eight weeks. 
Of course there was a big difference in the customer list. The Belgian royal family ordered a 503, as did the house of Thurn und Taxis and Yugoslavian head of state Jozip Broz Tito. Industrialist Rudolf Oetker and Hans Glas revelled in the luxury of a BMW 503 and stars like Mimin Sonja Ziemann also bought the elegant eight-cylinder.  

The 503 was sensationally attractive, but delivery of the first 507 was awaited with even greater excitement. The big moment had come in December 1956 and the first customer – from a highly aristocratic background – took delivery of his alloy sports car. "Sexy and self-assured, cloaked in its skin-tight body”, was how one leading post-war test engineer described the first post-war sports car from the BMW stable. It was a very unusual car, and not at all teutonic. 
“The BMW 507 is not a car that will earn Bayerische Motorenwerk any money. Its main purpose is to represent BMW’s tradition of sporty, high-quality vehicles.”

Dream car 507 – also in advertising.

The BMW 507 embodied a chic lifestyle that most Germans were only familiar with from the dream world of the movie theatres. Contemporary advertising speaks volumes. A gentleman in a dazzling white dinner jacket invites a lady for a spin in his roadster. She is wearing long white gloves and elegantly attired in the latest summer fashion. The lady ponders whether it’s quite proper to accept the invitation, but the car and its impeccably dressed driver are the epitome of style and good taste. She is unlikely to withstand the temptation of stepping into this jewel of an automobile. A sales brochure shows a similar couple. Here the gentleman is driving the lady along the runway of an airport in order to take her directly to the gangway.

The bright red sales brochure for the new eight-cylinder sports car emphasizes superior performance: 150 bhp with 3.2 litre displacement. 
This engine is good for a top speed of 220 kilometres an hour. The engine produced 10 bhp more than the 503, as a result of some new devices introduced by the design engineers. The compression of the eight-cylinder was increased further to 7.8:1 and specially adapted parts were installed. 
Later on, BMW fitted a version with enhanced power on request and this engine delivered some 165 bhp. The additional power was generated 
by raising the compression and a change in the camshaft involving a bigger rocker-arm ratio. The valve diameters also increased to 42 millimetres on 
the inlet side and 38 millimetres on the outlet side. Moreover, there were bigger carburettors for supplying fuel to the engine. 

Highly developed eight-cylinder engine.  

The main components of the basic engine didn’t have to be changed. 
The pistons each had four rings and they moved in “wet” liners manufactured using centrifugal casting, i.e. they were bathed in cooling water. The oil pump was driven by a roller chain. The ingenious rocker-shaft mounting was created by the imaginative minds of the BMW engineers: the inner retaining screws for the bearing blocks were made of high-grade steel also used in the bumpers and passed right through the cylinder head to finish at the bottom in 


the housing. This meant they could maintain a uniform distance from the crankcase even during the warm-up phase when the metals were expanding at different rates. The result ensured that valve clearance was perfectly compensated between hot and warm operations. Advertising promoted this design as “automatic valve-clearance compensation”.

The valves themselves were configured in parallel at a 12° angle to the cylinder axis. This was not a cross-flow cylinder head like a modern head where the V-shaped overhead valves are arranged opposite each other. 
The advantage of this configuration was reduced width, which was in short supply beneath the bonnet of the 507. In order to keep the cold phase as short as possible, the eight-cylinder engine was provided with a corrugated metal tube in a water cooling jacket. Oil flowed through the tube which 
acted as a heat exchanger. After the cold start, the water reached operating temperature faster and helped to keep the oil cool when the car was being driven at full power.

Too complex: test engine with “crossed valves”.

BMW development engineers soon attempted to coax more power out of this eight-cylinder and developed a prototype with spherical combustion chamber and so-called “crossed valves”. This involved positioning the valves of 
a cylinder opposite each other in a V-shape. However, they were not arranged transversely as is the case today, but in a longitudinal direction. This achieved 
a faster gas changing process with less friction, while the width of the V8 
didn’t increase to such an extent that it could no longer be accommodated in the engine compartment. Nevertheless, casting a cylinder head like this was extremely complicated, and the rocker arms were subject to oblique stress, which meant they wore out faster. Moreover, by contrast with the extremely smooth-running basic eight-cylinder engine, the test engine was exceptionally loud. This engine achieved around 190 bhp with twin carburettors and was tested for example in the sports car developed by Loof. However, the engine was out of the question for a mass-produced car, particularly since comparable power could also be achieved with a V8 engine using conventional valve operation. 

As in the case of the 503, the chassis of the 507 was based on the chassis 
of the 507 saloon. However, the box-type chassis was shortened, giving the roadster a wheelbase of 2,480 millimetres and a total length of 4.38 metres. This meant that the sports car was significantly shorter than the saloon and the 503 coupé, which had a total length of 4.75 metres and a wheelbase of 2,835 millimetres. 

Setback: too expensive for the USA.

Max Hoffman continued to be enthusiastic about the car – but not about the price. He had anticipated a purchase price of around DM 12,000, but the production costs of the aluminium sports car with its eight-cylinder engine were much too high for a price in this range. When the 507 was launched, 
it cost precisely DM 26,500, with a hard top piling on another 1,500 marks. What’s more, the competition in foreign markets was much too strong. 
The price list in Great Britain showed a sum of £ 4,201 for the 507, while a Jaguar XK140 was less than half that price at £ 1,693 and an Aston Martin could be had starting at £ 3,901.

Of course, anyone who could afford the price tag was clearly not going to be deterred by these differences. Celebrities like Elvis Presley, Alain Delon, 
Ursula Andress or Toni Sailer indulged in a BMW 507. The noble sports cars from Munich were also stabled in the garages of Prince Rainier of Monaco, 
the Aga Khan and the kings of Greece and Morocco. 

The proof: 220.1 km/h on the autobahn from Munich to Nuremberg.

Despite the illustrious customer list and the initial euphoria, the American market could not be won over. US customers quickly became disenchanted with the relationship between price and performance. The brochure featured the very competitive top speed of 220 km/h but there was a footnote to the effect that this was achieved with a seat cover and racing windscreen. 
BMW felt compelled to provide proof of this data just three months after delivery of the sports cars had commenced. Alexander von Falkenhausen 
had designed the chassis for the 507 and he had racing experience. 
He was given the mission to come up with the proof. He took a sports car with a hard top, gave it underride protection and improved certain details of 
the aerodynamics, such as taping up the cooling air inlets. The autobahn from Munich to Ingolstadt was sealed off for the attempt and von Falkenhausen actually clocked up 220.1 km/h driving the 507. 

1957: model revision for 507 and 503.

BMW carried out a series of detailed changes and improvements in 
June 1957, with the aim of winning over potential customers for the 507. 
45 cars had been supplied up to that point. Repositioning the fuel tank 
was the key change made. In the first series, it had been sited behind the front seats and held 110 litres, while in the second series it was located under the boot with a capacity of 65 litres.

The 503 also didn’t sell as well as had originally been hoped. Interestingly, BMW sold more of the coupé than of the sports car, even though 
the 2+2-seater was more expensive. 219 cars had already come off the production line by December 1957, when the elegant tourer was also reworked. Anyone trying to see the changes by just looking at the body would have had a hard time to spot the difference. The revamped 503 was only recognizable by the change on the outside involving different trims fitted at the rear. These had swept up in the first version whereas they were now straight. But the driver would have had no difficultly distinguishing between the first and second series. The coupé and convertible now had a floor-mounted gearshift instead of a gear lever mounted on the steering column. This was because the position of the gearbox had been changed. In the original version, the gearbox was connected to the engine by a short shaft and was located under the front seats, whereas in the two models manufactured from 1957 onwards, the gearbox was flanged directly onto the engine. Another change affected the design of the servo mechanism for operating the windows. This was converted from hydraulic operation to an electric motor. However, the electric convertible top of the open-top 503 version continued to be operated hydraulically. 

Drivers of the 507 had to do without these accessories for enhancing 
comfort because the roadster was and remained a sports car. A curb weight of 
1,280 kilograms – with fuel – made this a speedy car even with 150 bhp. 
A trade magazine clocked up 200 km/h top speed when testing a standard 507 in 1957 and recorded a best acceleration time of exactly ten seconds from a standing start to 100.

High level of active safety for the world champion: 
507 with “good-natured temperament”.

A valuable accolade came in 1957, when world-famous sports driver 
John Surtees opted for the BMW sports car. In 1956, Surtees had won the Motorcycle World Championship for MV Agusta in 1956 and he was awarded half a sports car in recognition of this feat – the world champion selected 
a 507. Thanks to an increase in performance for the engine, the sports car provided the world champion with an express link between his home in England and his workplace in Italy. He actually drove faster than the roads permitted on one occasion and had to use all his driving skills to keep on the road. He was quoted as saying: “I was never more grateful to the good-natured temperament of the 507. I had to countersteer right round in the opposite direction and then in the other direction. Somehow I managed to take the bend.”  

This kind of driving style was also used to advantage in motor sport. 
Racing driver and “Hill King” Hans Stuck used a modified 507 for Hillclimb racing in Europe and was always victorious with the eight-cylinder roadster. Some private drivers like Swiss driver Robert Jenny and Austrian BMW General Importer Wolfgang Denzel also drove to success with this BMW car. 

Michelotti and Loewy: no one topped the 507 design.

The biggest attraction undoubtedly was – and remains to this day – the design of the 507. And a challenge: Giovanni Michelotti ordered a chassis to offer some opposition to the newcomer Goertz, but he soon gave up the attempt. Raymond Loewy, one-time mentor to the aristocratic creator of the 507, attempted to reinstate the hierarchy of master and student – but failed. Loewy had also been given a chassis by BMW and he commissioned the French company Pichon et Parat to build a plastic body to his design mounted on the frame. An eyewitness at the Paris Motor Show summed up the resulting prototype with the words: “It’s fair to assume that someone said to Raymond Lowey: ‘I’d like to go to the masked ball with a BMW 507, can you dream something up...’ And the master created something that snaps at the front and from the side looks something like a doodle you might scribble on a writing block during a telephone conversation.”

1958: with the option of disc brakes.

Despite minimal sales figures, BMW didn’t immediately give up on the 507. After all, together with the 503 it was an ideal advertisement for promoting the image of the company as a manufacturer of technically advanced products. 
In 1958, the sports car was given disc brakes as an optional extra. At the time, this was an innovative piece of engineering. 

But on the commercial front, the two prestige cars were not in tune with the business context at BMW. The company would be unable to afford the luxury of the expensive and complex production process for much longer. A total of 251 examples of the 507 had been produced by 1959, plus three chassis for the special versions. The US market originally intended for the sales drive 
had the lowest sales, with only 39 roadsters going to the USA as new cars. The majority of the 507 cars have survived, with an estimated 240 roadsters still extant today. Manufacture of the 503 came to an end in the same year. 412 cars rolled off the assembly line in Munich, 139 of these had an open-top roof. Although sales in the USA were better, the main markets were in Germany and Switzerland. The number of 503 coupés and convertibles still in existence today is estimated at around 250. 

The two models are much sought-after today and are extremely expensive cars for enthusiasts, but the end of production in 1959 was regarded with equanimity. The Annual Report simply noted : “Towards the end of the year under review, manufacture of the special car types 503 and 507 was 
also brought to an end for reasons of ongoing rationalization in production.”

Technical Data.
BMW 507.
 
Production period
1956–1959


Units
251


Price
DM 26,500

Engine
Type
eight-cylinder V-engine

bore x stroke (mm)
82 x 75


Displacement
3,168


Power output
150 PS at 5,000 U/min


compression
1:7,8


valves
Overhead, central camshaft


carburetion system
2 Zenith 32 NDIX dual-barrel downdraught carburettors

Power train
clutch
Single dry plate clutch


transmission
Four-speed, central shift, synchromesh on all gears


gearbox ratios
1:3,776/1:2,353/1:1,49/1:1 
(sporty gearbox: 1:3,54/1:2,202/1:1,395/1:1)


reverse gear
1:5,377 (sporty gearbox: 1:5,03)


drive transmission
1:3,7 (series) or 1:3,42 or 1:3,9

Electric system
generator
200 W


battery
12 V 56 Ah


spark plugs
Bosch W 24 RT 1 
 

or Beru E 240/14 (with radio) 

Chassis
body/chassis
Full protection-box frame 

 


with tubular cross members


rear-wheel suspension
Banjo axle located by spring 
 


levers and Panhard rod


wheel rims
4,5 E x 16


tyres
6,00–16


front brakes
Hydraulic two leading-shoe 
 


brakes with servo


front brake diameter (mm)
284


rear brakes
Hydraulic leading-shoe 
 


drum brakes with servo


rear brake diameter (mm)
284

Weight and 
dimensions
length x width x height (mm)
4,380 x 1,650 x 1,260


wheel base (mm)
2,480


front track (mm)
1,445


rear track (mm)
1,425


empty weight (kg)
1,220


permissible total weight (kg)
1,500


fuel consumption (l/100 km)
17


Maximum speed
190–220 

Technical Data.
BMW 503 convertible.
 
Production period
1955–1960


Units
139


Price
29,500 DM

Engine
Type
eight-cylinder V-engine


bore x stroke (mm)
82 x 75


Displacement
3,168


Power output
140 PS at 4,800 U/min


compression
1:7,3


valves
Overhead, central camshaft


carburetion system
2 Zenith 32 NDIX dual-barrel 
 


downdraught carburettors

Power train
clutch
Single dry plate clutch


transmission
Four-speed, steering-column  shift, synchromesh on all gears; from Sept. 1957: four-speed, central shift


gearbox ratios
1:3,78/1:2,35/1:1,49/1:1 
(sporty gearbox: 1: 3,54/ 1:2,202/1:1,395/1:1)


reverse gear
1 : 5,38 (sporty gearbox: 1:5,03)


drive transmission
1 : 3,89 or 1 : 3,42

Electric system
generator
200 W


battery
12 V 56 Ah


spark plugs
Bosch W 225 RT 1 or 
 


Beru E 225/14 (with radio)

Chassis
body/chassis
Full protection-box frame with   
 

tubular cross members


rear-wheel suspension
Banjo axle located by spring levers and wishbone


wheel rims
4,5 E x 16


tyres
6,00–16


front brakes
Hydraulic drum brakes


front brake diameter (mm)
284


rear brakes
Hydraulic drum brakes


rear brake diameter (mm)
284

Weight and 
dimensions
length x width x height (mm)
4,750 x 1,710 x 1,440


wheel base (mm)
2,835


front track (mm)
1,400


rear track (mm)
1,420


empty weight (kg)
1,500


permissible total weight (kg)
1,800


fuel consumption (l/100 km)
16


Maximum speed
190

Technical Data.
BMW 503 coupe.
 
Production period
1956–1960


Units
273


Price
29,500

Engine
Type

eight-cylinder V-engine


bore x stroke (mm)
82 x 75


Displacement
3168


Power output
140 PS at 4,800 U/min


compression
1:7,3


valves

Overhead, central camshaft


carburetion system
2 Zenith 32 NDIX dual-barrel 
 


downdraught carburettors

Power train
clutch

Single dry plate clutch


transmission
Four-speed, steering-column 
 


shift, synchromesh on all gears; 
 


from Sept. 1957: four-speed,  
 


central shift


gearbox ratios
1:3,78/1:2,35/1:1,49/1:1 (sporty  gearbox: 1:3,54/1:2,202/1:1,395/1:1)


reverse gear
1:5,38 (sporty gearbox: 1:5,03)


drive transmission
1:3,89 or 1:3,42

Electric system
generator
200 W


battery

12 V 56 Ah


spark plugs
Bosch W 225 RT 1 or 
 


Beru E 225/14 (with radio)

Chassis
body/chassis
Full protection-box frame 
 


with tubular cross members


rear-wheel suspension
Banjo axle located by spring 
 


levers and wishbone


wheel rims
4,5 E x 16


tyres

6,00–16


front brakes
Hydraulic two leading-shoe 
 


drum brakes with servo


front brake diameter (mm)
284


rear brakes
Hydraulic leading-shoe 
 


drum brakes with servo


rear brake diameter (mm)
284

Weight and 
length x width x height (mm)
4,750 x 1,710 x 1,400
dimensions
wheel base (mm)
2,835


front track (mm)
1,400


rear track (mm)
1,420


empty weight (kg)
1,475


permissible total weight (kg)
1,800


fuel consumption (l/100 km)
16


Maximum speed
190

2.
50 Years of BMW Isetta. 
 
Bubble car celebrates 50th anniversary 
 
on 05 March 2005.
 
(Short version)

Life certainly wasn’t dull in 1955. It was the year of “Lolita”, Vladimir Nabokov’s eyebrow-raising slant on the conflict between the generations, the year of James Dean’s tragic death and of a long-awaited homecoming for the 
9,626 German POWs still held in the Soviet Union. Everyday life in Germany was regaining an almost forgotten sense of normality and the economic hardship endured by its people had started to ease. The advent of disposal income fed demand for more comfortable ways of getting around and the dream of driving through the new federal republic, or even away on holiday, 
in a weatherproof car was sweeping the nation.

A very special kind of excitement that year was reserved for 12,911 car drivers, owners of the first BMW aimed at the cash-conscious motorist. The Isetta was an egg-shaped, two-and-a-bit-seater “Motocoupé” brought to the boil by a perky, rear-mounted 12-horsepower engine. Its only door opened out ahead of the driver and passenger and the distance between the rear wheels was not even half that at the front – no BMW before or since has boasted quite such an idiosyncratic appeal. Indeed, not content with its unorthodox front-opening mechanism, the door came as one unit with the steering wheel and dashboard. The driver changed gear using a small, floor-mounted gear lever positioned to his or her left which recalled the system used by the Formula racing cars of the time. 

44 marks in tax – “less than a city dachshund”.

The Isetta had arrived. BMW hit the nail on the head, describing its new model as an “ideal driving solution for anybody looking for an agile and nimble car with low running costs which is easy to park or fit in the garage”. Alongside its technical qualities, the Isetta also had economic benefits. A price tag of just DM 2,550 was good news for German workers bringing home an average of DM 90 a week. Compulsory third-party insurance was set at DM 95, while the bill from the tax authorities ran to only 44 marks – “less than a city dachshund”, as the advertising was at pains to point out.

The BMW “bubble car” remained a common sight into the 1960s, helping to fuel the surge in holiday traffic. The 85 km/h top speed was perhaps best enjoyed on a trip over the Alps to Italy, the Isetta’s birthplace. It was on a visit to the 1954 Geneva Motor Show that a BMW dealer unearthed what was then something of a rough diamond. The Munich-based manufacturer acquired the Isetta licence from Italian firm Iso, gave the “smooch-ball“ a new drive unit – from a BMW single-cylinder motorcycle – and re-trimmed its Italian robes, before bringing its new car onto the market around a year later. 

A gift from the King? Elvis and the Isetta.

But it wasn’t just Germany that fell under the spell of the “rolling egg”. 
BMW’s Isetta was delivered to customers far beyond its native borders and even made the journey overseas “with protection from attack by fungus 
and termites”. Elvis was photographed with one of the cars sent to the USA. The King himself preferred the more regal surroundings of a BMW 507 sports car but, as legend has it, he bought the Isetta as a gift for his manager. Everyone wanted to be seen with the charming new Motocoupé, celebrities and VIPs queuing up to share the lens with the smallest member of the 
BMW car family. And Germany’s post-war film industry would have been a star poorer without its show-stealing character. 

Sales figures refused to slow after the surprising success of 1955, despite prophecies of doom from some quarters, and in 1956 BMW added new models to the range. The 250 cc Isetta original was joined by a more powerful 300 cc 13 horsepower brother, and both variants were available in the 
higher-row export version with top-hung side windows and an improved chassis. BMW also laid on a range of optional extras, including right-hand drive instead of left, a soft-top roof and a removable cargo platform with 200 kg payload and complete with strengthened suspension.

The end of an era: the last Isetta rolls off the production line in 1962.

In Germany, only the Glas Goggomobil rivalled the Isetta as the most successful car of its kind. In 1957 – the Motocoupé’s peak year – BMW sold almost 40,000 Isettas, before demand for slightly larger models with four 
seats and the stature of “real” cars swung the balance away from microcars. BMW responded to these market developments with the introduction of 
the 600, a longer version of the Isetta with a rear-mounted twin-cylinder Boxer engine. However, the tubby four-seater only lasted until 1959, when it was replaced by the significantly more advanced BMW 700, whose “ponton” body was underpinned by a self-supporting construction for the first time. 
The Isetta, meanwhile, remained in production and continued to enjoy huge popularity, especially outside Germany. The last of its 161,728 units to be 
built finally rolled off the assembly line in 1962.  

3.
50 years of the BMW Isetta.
 
(Long version)

The presentation on 5th March 1955 was appropriate to the event. Without pomp and ceremony, but filled with quiet pride, the top management of
 BMW unveiled their latest product before the assembled press. In the opulent lakeside Hotel Bachmair in Rottach-Egern, the journalists were shown a 
two-seater, but one which was unlike any sports car. The configuration of the new BMW was something quite different. Fritz Fiedler, then BMW’s Head 
of Vehicle Development, summed it up in his opening speech: “With the 
BMW Isetta Motocoupé, the public are being offered an economical type of car and a concept that is quite novel in Germany.” Indeed, no vehicle like it had been seen before on German roads: a tiny, almost spherical car with windows all round – and a single door at the front. 

Admittedly, the latest BMW hardly came as a surprise. The company had announced its new model back in the autumn of 1954, and six months prior to that the Isetta had been available for inspection for the first time at the factory in Milbertshofen. In the early 1950s, the Bayerische Motoren Werke were still suffering from the after-effects of the Second World War. True, in 1948 motorcycle production had been resumed with great success. Up until 1954 sales of the single- and twin-cylinder machines with shaft drive soared upwards. Nevertheless, it quickly became clear to the market strategists that the two-wheeler was only the first rung on the mobility ladder and the desire for a weatherproof vehicle was their customers’ prime consideration. With the big 501 Saloon, which had a pre-war six-cylinder engine under the bonnet, BMW was certainly offering a fast and luxurious car; but for a large part of the population it was several times too expensive. The company had no alternative to offer, since the resumption of car production after the war had been made extremely difficult by the loss of the Eisenach car plant. Production facilities as well as skilled staff had to be replaced. Not until the Frankfurt Motor Show in 1951 was the BMW 501 put on the road as the company’s first post-war car. The prestigious and extravagantly engineered saloon had even been improved by fitting it with the world’s first light-alloy eight-cylinder engine in time for the 1954 Geneva Motor Show, but the volume needed for profitable production could not be achieved. 

1954 Turin Motor Show: BMW meets Iso.

At the beginning of 1954, shortly after the Board of BMW had proudly presented the new V8 on the shores of Lake Geneva, BMW’s main agent in Switzerland, C.A. Drenowatz, was visiting the Geneva Show when he discovered a “fully-faired motorcycle” called an Isetta and manufactured by the Italian firm Isomoto. He immediately reported his findings to the head of sales, Hanns Grewenig. Since BMW’s top management had already spent a lot of time thinking about a popular car that would represent the best possible value for money, they dispatched Eberhard Wolff, who headed the test division, 
to the Turin Motor Show which was held in late April and where Iso was again showing its Isetta to the public. There were two prime considerations: 
it was essential that the Isetta could be put into production a) quickly and b) at no great cost. 

The first thing that struck one about the Isetta was its shape. Yet the “egg on wheels”, as the little vehicle was described right from the start, was remarkable not only for its unique profile, but also for its unusual technical features. 
For instance, the whole of the front end could be opened outwards – not even luxury saloons offered such a spacious method of boarding. The steering wheel and instrument panel were fixed to this door, which extended across the whole width of the car. A universal joint, which split the steering column 
a few centimetres above the floor panel, enabled one to move the steering column forward as well. Thus the driver and passenger merely had to clamber over the fixed foot pedals and could settle onto the two-seater bench without any contortions. Behind the seat was a generous space for the spare wheel and, if necessary, luggage. To the rear of the occupants puttered the heart of the little Italian job, a two-stroke engine with twin cylinders, which had 
a capacity of 236 cc and could deliver 9.5 horsepower. 

BMW buys the name and the tooling along with it.

Wolff recognized that the simple and relatively easy-to-produce design of the microcar had exactly the potential that BMW was looking for. Even before the exhibition closed its doors, he got in touch with the head of Iso, Renzo Rivolta, who was already extremely interested in doing licensing deals. A partner with such a great name as BMW, moreover, seemed like a godsend. His offer was attractive: BMW could take over both the name and principal tooling for the bodywork. The BMW Board wasted little time and the then Technical Director, Kurt Donath, and Head of Development, Fritz Fiedler, drove to Milan to get down to brass tacks with Iso. 

The Isetta: “It is deliberately not intended to be a saloon car…”

Almost exactly one year later, the BMW Isetta was launched. Many visual 
and technical details of the Italian original had been modified and improved by BMW. A first glance showed the bodywork had been altered by having detached headlights fitted at the top of the front-opening door instead of the bottom, and by giving it a new engine cover. In practical terms, Fritz Fiedler had no difficulty in justifying BMW’s bold decision in favour of the Isetta to the assembled trade journalists. In order to bring down the retail price, he said, many manufacturers would previously have tried to save costs in two ways: “Some of them want to achieve this objective by a nitpicking reduction of all the dimensions, following the simplistic calculation made by a lot of people that a hundredweight of car costs so much. The other method of getting the price down is crudeness. In extreme cases I picture the design as a tubular rod, to which some road wheels are attached which are steered by handlebars.” This kind of steering – others called it a joystick – was found, for example, in the Messerschmitt “cabin scooter”. “Between these two extremes”, Fiedler went on, “we now have the BMW Isetta. It is deliberately not intended to be a saloon car, but it is more than something to get you from 
A to B. It gives its occupants complete protection against the weather; you can get into it with greater ease than many a big car, and it can be driven with such supreme safety that even inept drivers put neither themselves nor others at risk.”
The Isetta’s five trump cards.

Fiedler summed up the advantages of the Isetta in five bullet points:

1.
“The cost of the bodywork is decisively influenced by the number of doors.  You can get by with one door. The door is not hung in the outer skin of the bodywork, but stands proud of the front end and hence is accident-proof.”  

2.
“Three wheels may be cheaper, but they are not nearly as good as four.  
Putting the drive through a single rear wheel overstrains it. That’s 
why we opted for two rear wheels. The narrow wheelbase saves us fitting 
a differential and means that one brake is enough.”

3.
“It has been possible to locate the engine in front of the rear axle, 
 
achieving an ideal weight distribution.”

4.
“Thanks to a transverse double cardan shaft, the suspension of the axle 
 
and the engine is independent.”

5.
“The egglike shape of the body is taken from nature. It requires 
 
least expenditure on materials to enclose a given interior space.”

This catalogue contained numerous BMW ground rules which still apply 
today – passive and active safety, optimum distribution of axle weight, driving comfort. And there was something else in the new “Motocoupé” – 
a BMW engine. The original noisy and underpowered two-stroke had already been available at the time of the negotiations between the BMW Board and Renzo Rivolta. If the bodywork was to be bought in, at least BMW could supply its own power unit. And anyway, in Munich there was a proven, reliable 
and perfectly suited power source: the single-cylinder engine of the 
BMW R25/3 motorcycle.

A tried and tested motorcycle engine for the new Motocoupé: 
the single-cylinder 250.

This vehicle set new standards in its class: from a cylinder capacity of 245 cc the single-cylinder generated 12 horsepower at 5,800 rpm. Its construction was as robust as it was simple. The crankcase and cylinder were made of cast iron, the cylinder head of aluminium. However, the head was rotated by 
180 degrees compared with the motorcycle engine. The twin-bearing crankshaft was also different in the Isetta power unit, being larger and featuring reinforced bearings. One of the reasons for this was the heavy Dynastart unit which combined the dynamo and self-starter. The laterally located camshaft was driven by a roller chain, and transmitted its control impulses via pushrods into the cylinder head, where the overhead V-shaped valves were activated 
by rocker arms. The fuel mixture was provided by a Bing sliding carburettor. 
In addition to further changes of detail, the BMW engineers enlarged the sump for installation in the car and cooled the engine by means of a radial fan. 

Economic motoring: top speed of 85 km/h (53 mph) and around 
80 mpg.

To quote from a press release at the time of the launch: the engine “gives the BMW Isetta excellent acceleration, with help from the well-chosen ratios in 
its four-speed gearbox, which also has a claw shift and reverse gear. Gradients of up to 32% can be surmounted with ease. Fuel consumption is as little as 3.8l/100 km (approx. 80 mpg). The maximum speed of 85 km/h (53 mph) can be exploited without anxiety in view of the hydraulic brakes on all four wheels”. With this braking system the Isetta set new standards in the “bubble car” class, since the competition were still fitting cable brakes as standard. Incidentally, the braking arrangement was as follows: each of the front and rear wheels had a drum brake. Admittedly, only the left rear drum was connected to the hydraulic circuit of the service brake. The right-hand drum was connected by a cable to the handbrake lever, which stuck up vertically by the driver’s foot. And in the mid-1950s, by no means every car could boast four forward gears. With a torque of only 14.2 Newton metres at 4,500 revs those gears were sorely needed, even though with a full tank the Isetta only tipped the scales at 360 kg. 

Safe roadholding despite a short rear axle. 

Initially the wheelbase layout aroused deep suspicion. The two front wheels were mounted at each corner, 120 cm apart, whereas the two rear wheels were tucked in centrally with a track of just 52 cm, making the “darning ball”, as the diminutive car was sometimes dubbed, look like a three-wheeler. 
The power train from the four-speed gearbox to these two wheels was unusual enough: fixed to the gearbox output drive was something called a Hardy disc, which was a cardan joint made of rubber. On the other side of it was a cardan shaft, and finally a second Hardy disc, which in turn was located at the entrance to a chain case. A duplex chain running in an oil bath led finally to a rigid shaft, at each end of which were the two rear wheels. Thanks to this elaborate power transfer, the engine-gearbox unit was both free of tension and well soundproofed in its linkage to the rear axle. This paid off in terms 
of a surprisingly comfortable drive and very well-balanced roadholding.  

Yet at this point no journalist, let alone a customer, had ever driven the Isetta. Development boss Fritz Fiedler anticipated the scepticism and tackled it head on: “There will probably be heated arguments among experts and laymen about the rigid, uncompensated rear axle with a track significantly narrower than the front one. But there is nothing new about this. These vehicles are said to perform particularly well in hill-climbs on bad and winding roads. We found exactly the same thing in our test drives. No-one who hasn’t seen it for himself can believe how well and how safely this vehicle handles.” 

A “succès d’estime” at the Mille Miglia.

And he was able to prove it too. Back in 1954 the Isetta had taken part in the Mille Miglia – and earned its spurs: over a distance of 1,000 miles the drivers achieved an average speed of over 70 km/h (43 mph). In view of its maximum speed, which was just 15 km/h higher, this was an almost incredible figure. There is no doubt that this was helped by the fact that the front-wheel mountings and suspension moved with the steering, which meant that the steering geometry remained unaltered even when the car tilted and rebounded – the Isetta’s roadholding was exemplary. 

What lay behind this was the overall design concept consisting of an all-steel body which rested on a trapezoidal tubular steel frame. The front wheels were mounted individually on longitudinal cranks whose movement was checked 
by coil springs and frictional shock absorbers. The rear axle was fixed to the body by two quarter-ellipse leaf springs and two telescopic shock absorbers. 

Parking nose-in to the kerb.

Admittedly it was in towns that the bubble car, 2.28 metres long by 
1.38 metres wide, scored the highest points. Fritz Fiedler gave the journalists the perfect tip for parking: “You drive into the parking space facing the kerb, park the car and get out at the front, straight on to the pavement. After nearly 25 years, BMW might pull out their old slogan again: Bigger inside than outside.” Thanks to the overall length of precisely 2 metres, 28 centimetres and 5 millimetres, even the meter maids turned a blind eye to this style of parking. 

Plenty of elbow room inside.

Indeed the Isetta did offer a uniquely spacious driving experience. To quote again from the press release announcing the Motocoupé: “Large windows made of shatter-proof Plexiglas allow an open view in all directions. There are handles to open the sun-roof as well as the two quarter-lights that give draught-free ventilation. Two adults and a child can sit comfortably on the bench seat, with a full width of 1.18 metres, which can be adjusted forwards or backwards. The space between the seat and the front door is 70 cm, giving the occupants ample room for their legs and feet. Any restriction of the driver’s movements is avoided, not least by the fact that the gear lever is located 
on the left to save space and the remaining manual controls are conveniently grouped on the steering column.” The steering column was between the driver’s legs, to the left of it was the clutch pedal, and to the right the brake and accelerator. “Thanks to the swivelling quarter-lights, the sun-roof and the 
fan-heater, it is possible in all weathers and in any season to cover the longest distances in a comfortable environment.” Some people took this literally: 
it is on record that a married couple drove an Isetta from Sicily to Sweden in 
62 hours. 

Safe and considerate: a door with a knuckle-joint lock.

The characteristic feature of the Isetta, which brought it the nickname “Christmas car” (“Open wide the door…”), was incidentally not intended purely for the comfort of passengers getting in, but also designed to have environmental benefits. Development boss Fritz Fiedler argued it this way: “We even chose a special design for the door lock. No longer will people 
have to slam the door shut with a loud bang – the nocturnal terror of anyone living near a pub – because the door is closed silently and safely with 
a kind of knuckle-joint lock, which goes over a dead point. At the same time this prevents the door, if not properly closed, from swinging open when the brakes are applied.” 

On that day, 5th March 1955, a grand total of two Isettas were available to journalists for them to put these promises to the test. This they did in good measure – and were delighted. They praised the “successful synthesis of motorcycle/scooter and four-seater car” and paid tribute to the unique concept of the Motocoupé. The Isetta was clearly distinct from the competition. 
In Germany alone more than 20 manufacturers were offering an enormous variety of bubble cars and small cars for all tastes and almost every purse. 
At that time necessity mated with invention to produce some strange offspring. Some had the occupants sitting one behind the other, tandem-style, and some even back to back.

Value for money: six months’ work for an Isetta.

The Isetta was a hit. BMW had been right about its “ideal solution of the motoring problem for everyone who needs a nippy and manoeuvrable vehicle with low running costs and no difficulties in parking or garaging. 
This means wage- and salary-earners going to work, doctors, salesmen, skilled tradespeople, representatives travelling for big firms, the self-employed and, not least, the lady of the house when her husband has taken the ‘big car’ out”. Apart from its technical qualities, a point in favour of the Motocoupé was the modest list price asked by BMW: just 2,550 deutschmarks. 
Good value, but not cheap. In those days a German worker earned an average of DM 90 per week, so he would have to work a good six months to 
buy an Isetta. The obligatory third-party insurance cost DM 95, and the taxman demanded an annual road tax of DM 44 for the “smooch-ball” – or 
“less than a dachshund in the city”, as the advertisements assured people. 

1955: demand exceeds supply.

BMW had set a production target for the year 1955 of 11,200 Isettas; in the event the figure was considerably higher – but it still did not meet the demand. In the company’s annual report the Board proudly announced: “In the year 1955 the West German vehicle industry was able to increase production by a third. We shared fully in this expansion. Total sales from our plant in 
Munich-Milbertshofen rose by 46% to DM 138,000,000. The decline in our motorcycle business, which we had already indicated in previous years, has been halted by the timely introduction of the BMW Isetta Motocoupé, though the launch costs are being charged to the year just ended. With the increase 
in the Isetta’s production volume, the breakeven point was passed as early as the beginning of 1956 and so it was already contributing to the profitability of the factory. The BMW Isetta’s extraordinarily favourable reception in the market led to a rapid increase in output. Overall, since the start of production in April, which then rose to a volume of 2,000 units per month, no less than 
12,911 units had been manufactured and sold by the end of 1955.” BMW produced as many Motocoupés as was physically possible – sometimes under 

the most adverse conditions. For example, workers would be assembling the bubble cars on the production line while, a few steps away, bricklayers were still busy repairing the war-damaged workshops. Even so, purchasers usually had to wait a month before they could take delivery of the Isetta they had ordered. 

The finest car under 4,000 deutschmarks: the Isetta.

It soon turned out that the overwhelming majority of proud Motocoupé drivers were very satisfied with their choice: “And if anyone has had the slightest 
thing to complain about, up to now he has always been torn to pieces in an avalanche of readers’ letters”, reported the journalists in a trade magazine 
of the day, “Rollermobil und Kleinwagen”. The quirky profile of the Italian-born creation was even considered chic. So it was that in summer 1955, 
at the Bad Harzburg motor rally, the Isetta won the beauty contest in the under DM 4,000 price category. 

By the middle of 1956, however, it seemed that the sharp rise was already being followed by an equally steep drop. The blame for this lay with two rumours. According to one, BMW’s competitors were planning new small 
cars – larger but just as good value. This was unsettling for potential Isetta buyers: BMW had in any case raised the Isetta’s price to DM 2,750, and the market reacted by holding on to their wallets. The second rumour did not improve things either: it was that BMW intended to cease production. In June the company went out of their way to deny this in the press: “A rumour has recently surfaced to the effect that manufacture of the BMW Isetta is going to be closed down due to the expiry of the licence and the appearance of 
a new and larger car. Exactly the opposite is true. The BMW Isetta assembly plant in Munich is currently being considerably enlarged, in order to increase still further the current daily output of 200 vehicles.” 

More performance: the Isetta with a 300 cc engine.

The customers accepted the statement, the competing cars failed to materialize and sales picked up again. At the same time, in 1956, work began on expanding the range: the engineers enlarged the single cylinder to a 
72 mm bore and 73 mm stroke, which yielded a cubic capacity of exactly 298, and at the same time they raised the compression ratio from 6.8 to 7.0:1. 
In this way the engine now generated 13 horsepower at 5,200 rpm, and the torque rose to 18.4 Newton metres at 4,600 revs. True, the maximum 
speed remained at 85 km/h, yet there was a marked increase in flexibility, chiefly noticeable on gradients.

In addition to the desire for more performance, a part in the choice of this engine variant was played by factors which lay quite outside BMW’s purview. Firstly, it was then still possible to drive the 250 cc Isetta with the old 
Class IV driving licence. Quite a number of Isettas were lovingly maintained by their owners for years and even decades, precisely because they possessed no other licence. On the other hand, from 1956 onwards, first-time drivers had to pass the test for Class III if they wanted to drive a car. True, the Class IV licence continued to be issued, but it was only valid for small motorcycles. 
A second, similar reason for fitting the larger engine was the prevailing tax regime. The 250 cc engine did not take full advantage of the tax class, which then went up to 300 cc. 

1956: export version with improved fittings and technology.

In autumn 1956, BMW went on to introduce export versions of both variants. Externally they differed from the standard models by having a full-width 
front bumper, large sliding side windows, a collapsible soft top and chrome drip rails. But underneath the body even more had changed. In order to improve the ride, the swinging arm on the front axle had been lengthened, the springs enlarged and the frictional shock absorbers replaced by modern telescopic ones. In parallel with this the rear axle suspension was also new and adjusted for a softer ride. Both the earlier model, now called the Isetta Standard 57, and the new Isetta Export 57 were available with either the 
250 cc or the 300 cc engine. Linked with the launch of the upgraded variant was a reduction in the price of the basic model to DM 2,490, whereas the export version cost DM 2,750. 

The “Export” label was indeed entirely justified: as early as 1955, the Isetta’s resounding success in Germany was followed by a growing interest in the little bubble car not only in continental Europe but also overseas. BMW were 
not about to let this business slip away. Among others, export versions with the designation “Overseas model” and “USA model” were developed. The former was essentially distinguished by additional ventilation for the occupants and power unit as well as so-called “tropic-proof enhancements to all body, chassis and engine components”. This boiled down to “protection from attack by fungus and termites”. On request, BMW additionally offered overseas customers several special options: right-hand instead of left-hand drive, 
a cabriolet hood and a removable platform for a 200-kilogram payload, as well as strengthened suspension. These extras were so attractive that they were immediately offered to German customers as well.  

Bubble car instead of boulevard cruiser: 12,787 Isettas for the USA.

BMW also put together a special Isetta package for prospective buyers in the USA, mainly with changes necessary to meet legal requirements in that country. Thus the American version was given parking and side lights, different headlights, more powerful winkers and larger rear lights. There were also 
fold-out side windows and modified ventilation. If required, US buyers could also order a cabriolet roof and twin windscreen wipers instead of one. 
By September the first Isettas were on the high seas bound for the land of gas-guzzling limos, and by the end of the year some 1,200 units had been shipped out. Over its whole production life the Isetta found 12,787 buyers 
in the USA. 

Even in 1957, a good two years after the launch of the Isetta, BMW was still garnering a great deal of praise for the bubble car. For example, one leading motor trade commentator of the day wrote of the 300 cc export model: “It is far easier to follow well-trodden paths and build a medium-powered car on proven lines for the well-heeled citizen than a runabout that will put no greater strain on the wallet of the man in the street than a motorcycle and 
sidecar might have done up to now.” Finally, he wrote of the Isetta: “This unconventional vehicle represents an unusually apt way of performing 
the tasks it is intended for, and a lot of hard development work has yielded something of great practical value.” In that year BMW built nearly 
40,000 units – the greatest annual volume in the Isetta’s production history. Along with the Goggomobil, the “smooch-ball” had become the most successful vehicle of its kind in Germany, and many local me-too equivalents of the BMW Isetta appeared in Britain, Spain and even Brazil. 

Competition from under the same roof: the BMW 600 and BMW 700.

Along with Germany’s Economic Miracle, by the end of the 1950s the demands of car buyers began to grow. The spartan microcars had passed their zenith, and customers were demanding proper automobiles. In 1957 BMW initially reacted by launching the 600, an Isetta with a longer wheelbase and a rear-mounted twin-cylinder horizontally opposed engine. By 1958 the tubby four-seater with its 19.5 bhp engine had ousted the Isetta from its place as the company’s number one revenue earner. With sales worth 75.5 million marks, the BMW 600 accounted for 39 percent of BMW’s turnover; the Isetta only managed DM 53 million or 27 percent. However, in 1959 the BMW 600 was replaced by a distinctly more modern design whose bodywork was created for the first time using a monocoque construction method: the BMW 700. 

The two new product lines were now eating into the Isetta’s sales. In 1958 barely 22,000 Motocoupés rolled off the Munich production line, and a year later the figure was down to around 20,000. But as the BMW annual report stated: “The decline in domestic sales of the Isetta is balanced by a significant rise in shipments of CKD Isetta kits for assembly abroad.” Whereas in 1958 
a mere 825 Motocoupé kits had been shipped worldwide, in 1959 the figure was 6,900. 

The end of an era: production closes down in May 1962.

Nonetheless, the “egg on wheels” put up a brave fight against competition that was growing ever greater and more modern. This was chiefly due to its attractive price combined with high quality. At DM 2,650 for the 250 cc Isetta in 1960 and DM 2,710 for the 300 cc version, the little car was almost unbeatable on price. Even its tough competitor, the Goggomobil, was asking no less than DM 2,947 for its basic T250 model. In any case, the price review in a motor trade magazine in 1960 noted on the Isetta: “Price supplement for heater: DM 45, sliding roof is standard” – in those days it was the only German car that offered this extra on all production models. Only one vehicle in that 
list was even cheaper than the Isetta: the Messerschmitt KR 200 cabin scooter, at DM 2,395, heater included. But it didn’t help. In 1961 a motoring magazine put it like this: “However you look at the Isetta, it has had its day.” 
A year later BMW ceased production of the Isetta. A total of 161,728 units had been built. The report by the Board for 1962 noted succinctly: “After running down parts stocks, manufacture of the Isetta came to an end in May as planned.” 

Technical Data.
BMW Isetta 250 Standard.
 
Production period
1955–1957

Units

26,646

Price

2,580 DM
Engine
Type

single-cylinder engine

bore x stroke (mm)
68 x 68

Displacement
247

Power output
12 PS at 5,800 U/min

compression
1:6,8

valves

Overhead, hemispherical 
 


combustion chambers

carburetion system
1 Bing 1/24 carburettor
Power train
clutch

Single dry plate clutch

transmission
Four-speed, constant-mesh 
 


gearbox, lever on left side panel, 
 


no synchromesh

gearbox ratios
10,05/1:5,17/1:3,54/1:2,7

reverse gear
1:12,15

drive transmission
1:2,31
Electric system
generator
130 W


battery
12 V 31 Ah


spark plugs
Bosch W 250 T 1 
 


or Beru 225/14

Chassis
body/chassis
Trapezoidal steel tube 
 


frame bolted to body

rear-wheel suspension
Narrow-track-rigid axle with quarter-
 


elliptic cantilever leaf-springs

wheel rims
3,0 D–10

tyres

4,80–10

front brakes
Hydraulic drum brakes

front brake diameter (mm)
180

rear brakes
Hydraulic drum brakes

rear brake diameter (mm)
180

Weight and 
dimensions
length x width x 
 
height (mm)
2,285 x 1,380 x 1,340

wheel base (mm)
1,500

front track (mm)
1,200

rear track (mm)
520

empty weight (kg)
359
permissible total 
weight (kg)
580
fuel consumption 
(l/100 km)
5.8

Maximum speed
85
Technical Data.
BMW Isetta 300 Export.
 
Production period
1956–1962

Units
70,350

Price
2,860 DM
Engine
Type
single-cylinder engine

bore x stroke (mm)
72 x 73

Displacement
298

Power output
10 kW/13 PS at 5,200 U/min

compression
1:7

valves
Overhead, hemispherical 
 

combustion chambers

carburetion system
1 Bing 1/22 carburettor
Power train
clutch
Single dry plate clutch

transmission
Four-speed, constant-mesh 
 

gearbox, lever on left side panel, 
 

no synchromesh

gearbox ratios
1:9,76/1:5,17/1:3,54/1:2,7

reverse gear
1:12,15

drive transmission
1:2,31
Electric system
generator
130 W

battery
12 V 24 Ah

spark plugs
Bosch W 240 T 1 or Beru 225/14
Chassis
body/chassis
Trapezoidal steel tube frame 
 


bolted to body

rear-wheel suspension
Narrow-track-rigid axle with 
 


quarter-elliptic cantilever 
 


leaf-springs

wheel rims
3,0 D–10

tyres

4,80 –10

front brakes
Hydraulic drum brakes

front brake diameter (mm)
180

rear brakes
Hydraulic drum brakes

rear brake diameter (mm)
180
Weight and 
dimensions
length x width x 
 
height (mm)
2,355 x 1,380 x 1,340

wheel base (mm)
1,500

front track (mm)
1,200

rear track (mm)
520 (Swiss version 200)

empty weight (kg)
350
permissible total 
weight (kg)
600
fuel consumption 
(l/100 km)
5

Maximum speed
85




































